IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC09-1659 L.T. NO.: 90-5417CF10B

LANCELOT URILEY ARMSTRONG,

Appellant,

-VS-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOHN COTRONE, ESQ. Fla. Bar No. 827762 509 S.E. 9th Street Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33316 (954) 779-7773

Attorney for Appellant

INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.142 from a final Order imposing the death penalty entered by the Honorable Michael L. Gates, Circuit Court Judge. Lancelot Uriley Armstrong was the Defendant below and The State of Florida brought the prosecution. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they stood in the proceedings below. The symbols "T." "R." and "E." will designate the transcript, record and exhibits of the proceedings below, respectively, followed by the Clerk's designated volume and stamped page number. Es. (R/Vol. #:p#; T/Vol. #:p#; E/Vol. #:p#).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant seeks review of a sentencing Order entered on August 7, 2009, committing the Defendant to the custody of the Department of Corrections to be sentenced to death. (R/Vol. 5: 798-803).

By Indictment dated March 7, 1990, the Defendant, along with co-defendant Ercely Wayne Coleman a/k/a Wayne Allen Coleman, was charged with Count I. Murder in the First Degree, Count II. Attempt Murder, First Degree and Count III. Armed Robbery. (R/Vol. 1: 1-2). On April 17, 1991, a jury convicted the Defendant of all counts, as charged and, on June 20, 1991, the Defendant was sentenced to death by the predecessor Judge, the Honorable James I. Cohn as to Count I. Murder in the First Degree and sentenced to two (2) consecutive life sentences as to Count II. Attempted Murder, First Degree and Count III. Armed Robbery, to run consecutive to the death sentence. On direct appeal, this Court affirmed the convictions and sentences. <u>Armstrong v. State</u>, 642 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 1994). <u>Cert. denied</u>, 514 U.S. 1085 (1995).

The Defendant subsequently appealed the denial of his motion for post conviction relief and by opinion dated October 30, 2003, this Court vacated the Defendant's death sentence and remanded the cause for a resentencing before a new jury. <u>Armstrong v. State</u>, 862 So. 2d 705 (Fla. 2003). (R/Vol. 1: 4-42). The Mandate commanding further proceedings in accordance with this Court's October 30, 2003 opinion was issued on February 20, 2004. (R/Vol. 1: 3).

A capital resentencing proceeding commenced on April 10, 2007. The evidentiary portion of the penalty phase began on April 16, 2007. On April 25, 2007, the jury issued an advisory sentence as to Count I. Murder in the First Degree and recommended death by a nine-to-three vote. (R/Vol. 3: 448). On August 7, 2009, the Trial Court resentenced the Defendant to death as to Count I. Murder in the First Degree. (R/Vol. 5: 798-803). A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on September 1, 2009. (R/Vol. 5: 813-851).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The factual background of this case is laid out in the opinion rendered by this Court in Defendant's direct appeal at Armstrong v. State, 642 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 1994). A brief summary of this Court's rendition of the facts are as follows: On February 17, 1990, the Defendant and a co-defendant, Michael Coleman, went to a Church's Fried Chicken restaurant asking to see Kay Allen, who was the assistant manager of the restaurant and the Defendant's former girlfriend. Id. at 733. Although Allen asked the Defendant to leave, he remained at the restaurant and eventually Allen accompanied him to the vehicle he was driving while Coleman remained inside the restaurant. Id. at 733. Allen testified that she and the Defendant and Coleman went back into the restaurant where Coleman and the Defendant ordered her to get the money from the safe. <u>Id</u>. at 733. Allen testified that she pushed the silent alarm and, shortly thereafter, the Defendant returned to the car while Coleman remained in the restaurant with Allen to collect the money from the safe. Id. at 733. Other testimony reflected that the police were notified of the silent alarm and Deputy Sheriffs Robert Sallustio and John Greeney went to the restaurant where they found the Defendant sitting in a blue Toyota. Id. at 733. Greeney had ordered the Defendant out of the car and holstered his gun to conduct a "pat down." Id. at 733. Sallustio noticed movement within the restaurant, heard shots being fired from the restaurant and from the direction of the car,

and felt a shot to his chest. <u>Id</u>. at 733. The Defendant apparently managed to get his gun and began firing at the officers. <u>Id</u>. at 733. Sallustio was shot three times, but still managed to run from the Defendant and radio for assistance. <u>Id</u>. at 733. The other officer arrived, finding Greeney, who had been shot at close range, dead on the scene. <u>Id</u>. at 733.

The Defendant and Coleman had fled the scene and were later apprehended in Maryland, where a Maryland doctor removed two bullets from the Defendant's arm. <u>Id</u>. at 733. On direct appeal, this Court affirmed the Defendant's convictions and death sentence. <u>Armstrong v. State</u>, 642 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 1994). <u>Cert. denied</u>, 514 U.S. 1085 (1995). This Court later granted post conviction relief and vacated the death sentence and remanded for a resentencing hearing. <u>Armstrong v. State</u>, 862 So. 2d 705 (Fla. 2003). (R/Vol. 1: 4-42).

Jury selection for the capital resentencing hearing pursuant to this Court's Mandate began on April 10, 2007. (R/Vol. 1: 3); (R/Vol. 1: 4-42); (T/Vol. 21: 24). The jury panel was accepted on April 11, 2007. (T/Vol. 22: 327). Thereafter, the State and Defense resolved a defensive challenge for cause by agreement to excuse the challenged juror. (T/Vol. 22: 396). The agreed upon panel was sworn in on April 16, 2007, after which the evidentiary portion of the penalty phase proceeded. (T/Vol. 23: 414).

I. GRUESOME PHOTOGRAPHS:

During the State's presentation of evidence, the State called upon the testimony of Detective Edel. Through Det. Edel's testimony, the State introduced the victim's bloody shirt as State's 19. (T/Vol. 24: 530-531); (T/Vol. 24: 540-541). Det. Edel also testified that he responded to the victim's autopsy for the post mortem examination. (T/Vol. 24: 531). According to Det. Edel, he recovered projectiles from the body of Dep. Greeney. (T/Vol. 24: 531). The projectiles were admitted into evidence as State's 20 and 21, over defense objection. (T/Vol. 24: 532-534). Next, the State sought to admit a vile of Dep. Greeney's blood. (T/Vol. 24: 537). The Defense objected based on relevancy, stating, "I don't see how a vile with blood taken at an autopsy has anything to do with this case." (T/Vol. 24: 537-538). Without first seeking a response from the State, the Trial Court overruled the objection and received the vile of blood as State's 22. (T/Vol. 24: 538).

The State then questioned Det. Edel about a photograph of the victim taken at the autopsy, asking, "Does this truly reflect Deputy Greeney at the autopsy?" (T/Vol. 24: 538). The defense objected arguing that the picture is unduly prejudicial. (T/Vol. 24: 538). Again, without soliciting a response from the State, the Trial Court overruled the objection and received the autopsy photograph as State's 23. (T/Vol. 24: 538); (E/Vol. 19-20).

A bloody picture of the victim taken at the scene was objected to by the defense based upon undue prejudice. (T/Vol. 24: 540-541). The defense argued that a bloody shirt and vile of blood was already in evidence and that this photograph tends to emphasize the bloodiness. (T/Vol. 24: 540-541). The defense went on to concede the Defendant's guilt of first degree murder and state that the introduction of this photograph will only act to inflame the jury. (T/Vol. 24: 541). The State responded that the photograph was introduced at the original trial and shows the way the victim was when he was found on his back with his gun holstered. (T/Vol. 24: 541). The objection was overruled and the photograph was introduced as State's 24. (T/Vol. 24: 542); (E/Vol. 38: 21-22).

The State showed its witness, Dr. Villa, the photographs admitted as States 23 and 24 and asked Dr. Villa if he went to the scene. (T/Vol. 25: 674-675). The State then elicited testimony from Dr. Villa that "...the deceased was laying there around the pool of blood, very bloody, with what appeared to be several gunshot wounds." (T/Vol. 25: 675). During Dr. Villa's testimony, the State admitted two photographs of the victim's wounds into evidence, without objection, as State's 90 and 91. (T/Vol. 25: 678-680); (E/Vol. 38: 130-133). The defense did object, however, to the State's introduction of an enlarged bloody photograph of the victim's head. (T/Vol. 25: 683). The defense argued that there had already been a number of defense objections

concerning unduly prejudicial photographs and that there was a previously admitted enlarged bloody photograph. (T/Vol. 25: 683). The defense pointed out that the Trial Court had also already admitted several photographs showing the victim with "...bloody froth and bloody mixtures around his facial area..." and that introduction of yet another enlarged bloody picture will further prejudice the jury. (T/Vol. 25: 683). The State countered that the other two pictures are of exit wounds while this photograph indicated soot in the left ear from a grazed wound. (T/Vol. 25: 683). The defense said there is no question that there is soot in the left ear and stipulated to the presence of soot. (T/Vol. 25: 684). The Trial Court overruled the objection and the enlarged photograph was introduced as State's 92. (T/Vol. 25: 684). State's 92 is a close-up of the Victim's head depicting blood dripping down and all over the victim's face. (E/Vol. 38: 134-135). The State did not present as an aggravating factor that "the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel." §921.141(5)(h), Fla. Stat. (2007).

II. PROBABLE TAMPERING:

State witness, Detective Auer testified that he had been a Deputy Sheriff with Broward Sheriff's Office for twenty-five (25) years and was involved in the investigation of this case. (T/Vol. 26: 878-879). During the course of Det. Auer's investigation, he issued a B.O.L.O. containing the Defendant's vehicle information. (T/Vol. 26: 882); (E/Vol. 38: 185-186). As a result of the B.O.L.O., Det. Auer travelled to the State of Maryland, where the Defendant had been arrested. (T/Vol. 26: 882-883); (T/Vol. 26: 886). Maryland law enforcement collected a number of items and evidence that was handed over to Det. Auer, including projectile fragments removed from the Defendant by medical professionals in the State of Maryland. (T/Vol. 26: 887-888).

The State had previously elicited the testimony of Dr. Carag, who was the surgeon from Maryland that removed the bullets from the Defendant's arm. (T/Vol. 25: 716-717). Dr. Carag testified that he removed two fragments, a large fragment and a small fragment, and delivered those fragments to a Maryland police officer. (T/Vol. 25: 718); (T/Vol. 25: 720).

Through the testimony of Det. Auer, the State sought to introduce into evidence a projectile fragment removed by Dr. Carag and the Defendant objected and conducted a voir dire, which revealed that the evidence bag sought to be introduced into evidence contained one fragment even though Det. Auer originally collected several fragments from the State of Maryland. (T/Vol. 26: 888-889). Auer did not have an explanation as to what may have happened to the other fragments, stating that he was told there were several fragments in the canister but that he never actually looked inside. (T/Vol. 26: 889). Dr. Carag was specifically asked about whether there was a fragment missing from State's evidence exhibit, which was marked for identification as "Z5":

- Q. Well, you have a very specific recollection of there being two fragments. When you examined the exhibit, you could only find one fragment?
- A. Yes.

(T/Vol. 25: 721). Dr. Carag did not know what happened to the missing fragment.(T/Vol. 25: 721). Det. Auer also could not explain what happened to the fragments:

Q. What happened to the other fragments?

A. That is not for me to answer. I did not do the examination. I don't know if there was more than one. I was told several. It was sealed by me and turned over to the lab still sealed.

(T/Vol. 26: 889).

The Trial Court acknowledged that Dr. Carag had testified that that "...there were two or three fragments entirely. And at the present time there is only one..." (T/Vol. 26: 890-891). The defense argued chain of custody stating that the apparent tampering precludes admission of the exhibit into evidence because there are items that, on the face of the exhibit, were taken out or are otherwise missing. (T/Vol. 26: 891-892). The Trial Court reserved ruling. (T/Vol. 26: 893).

Argument was later presented by the State and defense wherein the State argued that the State is permitted to introduce evidence that has been lost or destroyed unless there is a showing of bad faith that can be contributed to the State or unless it is shown that the destruction was purposeful. (T/Vol. 27: 928-929). In advancing this argument, the State primarily relied upon the case of <u>Arizona v. Youngblood</u>, 488 U.S. 51 (1988). (T/Vol. 27: 928-929).

The defense argued that the Defendant is only required to show a likelihood of tampering, citing cases such as <u>Taplis v. State</u>, 703 So.2d 453 (Fla. 1997). (T/Vol. 27: 932-934). The defense argued that the rule of law requires exclusion of the evidence, stating "...the evidence of the contamination, evidence of the tampering, the evidence of the exhibit not being in the form in which it was originally delivered to the State of Florida is tainted of this, clear for all to see." (T/Vol. 27: 935).

The Trial Court, relying on <u>Arizona v. Youngblood</u>, overruled the objection, stating, "The Court will find that the defendant has not demonstrated any prejudice and the Defendant has not shown any bad faith on the State and it shall be received into evidence." (T/Vol. 27: 937).

III. JURY INSTRUCTION:

The jury was instructed: "If you find the aggravating circumstances do not justify the death penalty, your advisory sentence should be one of life imprisonment without possibility of parole for twenty-five (25) years." (R/Vol. 3: 425); (T/Vol. 30: 1460). The jury was also instructed that "...if by six or more votes the jury determines that LANCELOT ARMSTRONG should not be sentenced to death, your advisory sentence will be:

The jury advises and recommends to the court by a vote of _____ to ____, that it imposes a sentence of life imprisonment upon LANCELOT ARMSTRONG without the possibility of parole for twenty-five (25) years.

(R/Vol. 3: 429-430); (T/Vol. 30: 1466).

The jury submitted a question, asking, "Will the 17 yrs he served be included in his 25 yrs sentence?" (R/Vol. 3: 446). The Trial Court relayed the jury question to counsel, stating, "Will the 17 years he served be included in his sentence?" (T/Vol. 30: 1487).

The State's position was that the question should be answered by telling the jury that the Defendant would receive credit for time served. (T/Vol. 30: 1487-1488). The State based its position on the case of <u>Downs v. State</u>, 572 So. 2d 895 (Fla. 1990). The defense responded, arguing that the <u>Downs</u>, ruling was based upon the fact that in <u>Downs</u>, the defense argued that a life sentence would put the defendant away for twenty-five (25) years and, therefore, the response telling the jury that the defendant would receive credit for time served was clarifying defense counsel's inappropriate or misleading remark. (T/Vol. 30: 1488-1489). The defense argued that the Defendant in

this case never made an argument as to the length of time a life sentence would subject him to as was done by the defense attorney in <u>Downs</u>. (T/Vol. 30: 1489). The Trial Court was troubled by the language in <u>Downs</u>, which states, "Under the facts presented, we find that the trial court did not abuse its discretion." <u>Id</u>. at 901. (T/Vol. 30: 1491).

The State then proffered the case of <u>Green v. State</u>, 907 So. 2d 489 (Fla. 2005). The State read into the record the jury question and court's answer from the <u>Green</u>, opinion:

Q. Judge, does a life sentence without a possibility of parole start in the year 1987 or does it start today?

A. The defendant if sentenced to life without parole would be entitled to credit for all time jail served against a life sentence. However, there is no guarantee that the defendant would be granted parole at or after 25 years."
Id. at 496. (T/Vol. 30: 1493-1494).

The Defendant was prepared to agree that the question be answered as it was answered in <u>Green</u>, stating that, if the jury is going to be instructed that the Defendant will receive credit for time served, the jury should also be instructed that parole would not be guaranteed after twenty-five (25) years. (T/Vol. 30: 1495-1496).

The Trial Court ruled that "...the Court is going to respond that the defendant

receives credit for the time he served on this charge, period." (T/Vol. 30: 1502). Consistent with this ruling, the jury was instructed, "The defendant will receive credit for the time served on this charge." (T/Vol. 30: 1506). The jury was not instructed that parole would not be guaranteed after twenty-five years, as requested by the defense. (T/Vol. 30: 1506).

On April 25, 2007, the jury issued an advisory sentence as to Count I of the Indictment, by a vote of nine (9) to three (3), recommending to the Court that it impose the death penalty upon Lancelot Armstrong. (R/Vol. 3: 448); (T/Vol. 34: 1862-1863).

A Spencer hearing was conducted on November 15, 2007 and November 30, 2007. (T/Vol. 36-37). The Trial Court entered its sentencing order on August 7, 2009, sentencing the Defendant to death. (R/Vol. 5: 758-794).

POINT ON APPEAL

I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING INTO EVIDENCE A VILE OF BLOOD AND GRUESOME PHOTOGRAPHS THAT WERE NOT INDEPENDENTLY RELEVANT AND THAT RESULTED IN UNFAIR PREJUDICE?

II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING INTO EVIDENCE A BULLET FRAGMENT WHERE THE DEFENSE CARRIED ITS BURDEN OF SHOWING PROBABLE TAMPERING THEREBY WARRANTING EXCLUSION?

III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY PROVIDING AN INADEQUATE AND MISLEADING INSTRUCTION TO THE JURY THAT THE DEFENDANT WOULD RECEIVE CREDIT FOR TIME SERVED SHOULD HE RECEIVE A LIFE SENTENCE WITHOUT THE POSSIBILITY OF PAROLE FOR TWENTY-FIVE (25) YEARS WITHOUT ADDITIONALLY INSTRUCTING THE JURY THAT PAROLE IS NOT GUARANTEED AT OR AFTER TWENTY-FIVE YEARS?

IV. WHETHER THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF THE EVIDENTIARY ERRORS, EVEN IF INDIVIDUALLY DEEMED HARMLESS, CUMULATIVELY DEPRIVED THE DEFENDANT OF A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL TRIAL?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court abused its discretion in admitting gruesome photographs, one of which was taken after the victim was removed from the scene and another which depicted a gory bloody inflaming image of the victim with blood dripping all over the victim's face. These photographs, along with the introduction of the victim's bloody shirt, a vile of the victim's blood and testimony from the doctor that conducted the autopsy that the crime scene was "very bloody" and that the victim was "in a pool of blood" did not provide any probative value and even if there was probative value, it was outweighed by the potential for unfair prejudice.

The Trial Court abused its discretion in admitting a bullet fragment into evidenced where the defense carried its burden of showing probable tampering. The doctor who removed the bullet fragments from the Defendant's arm testified that the evidence bag contained two (2) fragments, yet, at trial, the evidence bag only contained one (1) fragment and neither witness could explain the obvious discrepancy nor did the State present evidence that tampering did not occur.

The Trial Court abused its discretion in answering a jury question as to whether the Defendant would receive credit for the seventeen (17) years of time he has already served on this charge because the Trial Court provided the jury with an incomplete and misleading answer. The Trial Court answered the jury that, yes, the Defendant would receive credit for all time served should they recommend a life sentence without the possibility of parole for twenty-five (25) years. However, the Trial Court declined to instruct the jury, as requested by the defense, that the Defendant was not guaranteed to be released on parole after serving twenty-five (25) years. The Trial Court's failure to give a complete and accurate instruction on the issue of time served led the jury to believe that the Defendant would be released in eight (8) years, causing prejudice to the Defendant.

Even if the foregoing errors are found to be individually harmless, the cumulative effect of these errors deprived the Defendant of a fair and impartial trial.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING INTO EVIDENCE A VILE OF BLOOD AND GRUESOME PHOTOGRAPHS THAT WERE NOT INDEPENDENTLY RELEVANT AND THAT RESULTED IN UNFAIR PREJUDICE.

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