IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC09-1659

LANCELOT URILEY ARMSTRONG

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Leslie T. Campbell
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No.: 0066631
1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
Telephone (561) 837-5000
Facsimile (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

1001-02). The trial court found neither bad faith by the State nor prejudice arising from the loss of two "dot-size' fragments. As such, the remaining fragment was relevant and admissible under Youngblood.

Admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and the trial court's ruling will not be reversed unless there has been a clear abuse of that discretion.

Ray v. State, 755 So.2d 604, 610 (Fla. 2000); Zack v. State, 753 So.2d 9, 25 (Fla. 2000); Cole v. State, 701 So.2d 845, 854 (Fla. 1997). Discretion is abused only when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court. Trease v. State, 768 So.2d 1050, 1053, n. 2 (Fla. 2000) (citing Huff v. State, 569 So.2d 1247, 1249 (Fla. 1990)).

In <u>Murray v. State</u>, 3 So.3d 1108, 1115-16 (Fla. 2009), this Court stated: "Generally, relevant physical evidence can be admitted unless there is evidence of probable tampering. Taylor

Windom v. State, 886 So.2d 915, 952 (Fla. 2004) (J. Cantero concurring) (agreeing Ring v. Arizona was not retroactive in part because the difficulties of resentencing each capital defendant would be an enormous undertaking which would "include lost evidence and unavailable witnesses"); Williams v. State, 421 So.2d 512, 515 (Fla. 1982)(refusing to apply a new rule retroactively because it would entail hearings with "evidence possibly long since destroyed, misplaced, or deteriorated" and witnesses who "may not be available or [whose] memory might be dimmed").

v. State, 855 So.2d 1, 25 (Fla. 2003). Once the objecting party produces evidence of probable tampering, the burden shifts to the proponent of the evidence "to establish a proper chain of custody or submit other evidence that tampering did not occur."

Id. (quoting Taplis v. State, 703 So.2d 453, 454 (Fla. 1997))."

Once an adequate explanation is given for the discrepancy in the evidence, there is no abuse of discretion in admitting the evidence. Murray, 3 So.3d. at 1115-16. Under Youngblood, "unless a criminal defendant can show bad faith of the police, failure to preserve potentially useful evidence does not constitute denial of due process." Youngblood, 488 U.S. at 58.

As the State provided in Issue I and incorporates here, Armstrong's offered mitigation involved claims that he was not the shooter, that Coleman was the instigator and driving force for the robbery/homicide, and that if Armstrong had involvement it was minor and under duress. Given that the instant jury had not heard the original quilt presentation, but was there merely for re-sentencing, it was necessary for the State to show the facts of the crime establishing Armstrong's quilt to prove aggravation. Likewise, the State was permitted to rebut the offered mitigation. bullet fragments supported Armstrong's guilt and involvement in the execution of the robbery, wounding of Sallustio, and first-degree murder of Greeney. Such were

relevant and probative of the aggravation and mitigation offered at the penalty phase.

In the original trial, the three bullet fragments removed from Armstrong's arm were admitted into evidence and held by the evidence custodian. Two of the fragments were the size of dots. (R.27 927-31) In fact, they were so small, they could not be weighed. (R.1001-02) During the 17 years between the initial 1991 admission/conviction and the 2007 penalty phase, the two small fragments originally wrapped in tissue were lost, however, the largest fragment removed from Armstrong's shoulder after the February 17, 1990 shooting remained in the container. nothing exculpatory about the fragment. (R.26 823-29; R.27 931). The fact that the fragments were so small and that they had been admitted properly at the first trial, but turned up missing 17 years later undercuts any claim of tampering by the State. Further, Armstrong's argument against the admission of remaining fragment is most telling. He is not stating that the evidence is exculpatory nor that he requested further testing, only that the remaining large fragment should not be admitted because the two "dot-size" fragments are missing.

The State offered a reasonable explanation for the "dot-size" items to have been lost in the packing and storage of the evidence for 17 years. The fact that the Clerk had custody of the evidence since the time of the 1991 trial (R.26 823-29) cuts

against any allegation that the tiny fragments were knowingly tampered with or discarded by the State to withhold them from Armstrong's use. Under Murray, 3 So.3d at 1115-16, the allegation of tampering was rebutted and the remaining evidence was admissible. The evidence was not exculpatory, and there was no incentive to destroy the evidence after trial.

Armstrong's reliance on Murray, 838 So.2d 1073, 1082 (Fla. 2002); Dodd v. State, 537 So.2d 626 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); and State v. Taplis, 684 So.2d 214 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) do not further his position under the circumstances of this case. First, each is dealing with the admission of evidence at trial prior to an adjudication of guilt. Here, Armstrong has been convicted and that conviction affirmed, and the instant issue is one of sentencing. Second, the evidence admitted at trial was properly authenticated via the chain of custody and was admitted as evidence Armstrong was involved in the February 17, 1990 shootout with Sallustio and was injured at that time. The bullet fragments in Armstrong's arm were inculpatory, exculpatory. Third, the State offered a reasonable explanation for the two missing fragments. The analysis should then, as the trial court reasoned, be conducted under a Youngblood standard where the State's bad faith must be shown in the destruction or loss of evidence.

"Under Youngblood, bad faith exists only when police

intentionally destroy evidence they believe would exonerate a defendant. Youngblood explained that the 'presence or absence of bad faith ... must necessarily turn on the police's knowledge of the exculpatory value of the evidence at the time it was lost or destroyed.'" Guzman v. State, 868 So.2d 498, 509 (Fla. 2003). Here, the fragments were not exculpatory. Instead, they placed Armstrong at the site of the murder. The fact that two "dot-size" fragments were lost after 17 years in storage did not call into question the relevancy of the remaining fragment identified by the surgeon, medical personnel, and law enforcement officers who collected, tested, and maintained the evidence before it was admitted during Armstrong's initial trial. (R.25 716-19, 722-25; R.26 823-25, 888).

Furthermore, Sallustio testified he fired upon Armstrong, and Armstrong admitted he was shot by Sallustio. (R.23 469-72; R.28 1154-56) The balance of the ballistics evidence and testimony established Armstrong, using a Tech-nine semiautomatic weapon, wounded Sallustio and killed Greeney. (E.27 996-1002) The missing fragments were not shown to have been lost by the State in bad faith nor were they exculpatory. Armstrong never requested testing of these fragments nor offered how they may be exculpatory. Also, no prejudice can be shown as Armstrong's conviction had been affirmed by the time of his resentencing and the balance of the evidence established he committed prior

violent felonies for the attempted murder of Sallustio and a prior armed robbery (prior violent felony aggravator), committed an armed robbery at the time of the shooting (felony murder aggravator), and Armstrong was the person who shot and killed Greeney as the sheriff's deputy was performing his duties (victim was law enforcement officer engaged in the performance of his duties aggravator). This Court should reject the instant claim and affirm the death sentence imposed upon Armstrong.

ISSUE III

THE JURY WAS INSTRUCTED PROPERLY REGARDING THE TERMS OF A LIFE SENTENCE AND THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DESCRETION IN ANSWERING THE JURY'S QUESTION REGARDING CREDIT FOR TIME SERVED (restated)

The trial court instructed the jury that there were two sentencing options available, death or life without the possibility for parole for 25 years. The trial evidence revealed that Armstrong had been incarcerated in 1990 and sentenced in 1991. During deliberations, the jury asked "Will the 17 yrs [Armstrong] served be included in the 25 yrs (sic) sentence?" (R.3 446; R.30 1487-1501). After argument from the parties, and considering Downs v. State, 572 So.2d 895 (Fla. 1991); Gore v. State, 706 So.2d 1328 (Fla. 1997); and Green v. State, 907 So.2d 489 (Fla. 2005), the trial court instructed the jury "[t]he defendant will receive credit for the time served on

this charge." (R.30 1501-02, 1506). Armstrong asserts on appeal that this instruction was incomplete and misleading and that the trial court abused its discretion when it failed to inform the jury that that parole was not guaranteed "at or after" 25 years. (IB 26-27).

As provided in <u>Green</u>, "Abuse of discretion is the standard we apply when reviewing a trial court's instructions given during jury deliberations. <u>See Perriman v. State</u>, 731 So.2d 1243, 1246 (Fla. 1999). Discretion is abused 'only when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court.' <u>White v. State</u>, 817 So.2d 799, 806 (Fla.2002); <u>see also Trease v. State</u>, 768 So.2d 1050, 1053 n. 2 (Fla. 2000)." Green, 907 So.2d at 496.

Waterhouse v. State, 596 So.2d 1008, 1015 (Fla. 1992) and Green are dispositive of this issue. In Waterhouse), this Court addressed whether it was error for the trial court to decline to answer the jury's questions on whether the defendant was eligible for parole and if he were, would he be credited with the time he had served in prison. This Court determined that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in informing the jury that it would have to rely on the instructions given previously and the evidence adduced at trial. The trial court

was found to have acted properly because the jury instructions adequately informed the jury that a life sentence carried a minimum mandatory sentence of twenty-five years. <u>Waterhouse</u>, 596 So.2d at 1015.

In <u>Green</u>, the jury asked similar questions as to credit for time served toward the minimum mandatory life sentence before parole eligibility as were asked in <u>Waterhouse</u>. This Court concluded:

This Court has concluded that a trial judge does not abuse his discretion in refusing to answer a jury's questions regarding a defendant's eligibility for parole if sentenced to life in prison. See Bates v. (Fla. State, 750 So.2d 6, 11 (approving the trial court's decision to to the written refer the jury instructions in response to the question "are we limited to the two recommendations of life with minimum 25 years or death penalty ... [o]r can we recommend life without a possibility of parole"); Whitfield v. State, 706 So.2d 1, 5 (Fla. (approving the trial court's decision to reread the previously given instruction in response to the question "[d]oes life in prison without parole really mean 'no parole' under any circumstances [and that] [h]e will never be allowed back into society again"); Waterhouse v. State, 596 So.2d 1008, 1015 (Fla. 1992) (approving the trial court's decision to advise the jury to rely on the evidence and the instructions already given in response to the questions "[i]f he's sentenced to life, when would he be eligible for parole," "[d]oes the time served count towards the parole time," and "[i]f paroled from [Florida] would the defendant then be returned to [New York] to finish his sentence there"). Therefore, the

trial judge in the instant action would not have abused his discretion if he had simply reread the initial instructions to the jury.

Green, 907 So.2d at 496-97 (emphasis supplied).

However, in <u>Green</u>, the trial court answered the jury's questions and instructed that credit for time served would be given and adding that there was no guarantee that parole would be granted. <u>Green</u>, 907 So.2d at 496. Relying on <u>Downs v. State</u>, 572 So.2d 895 (Fla. 1990), this Court found no abuse of discretion in the trial court informing the jury credit for time served would be given based on the reasoning that:

this Court has previously approved a similar response provided by a trial court. Downs, this Court addressed whether a trial court abused its discretion in responding to the following question posed by the jury deliberations: "Would the sentence with no chance of parole for 25 years begin right now, or would the 11 years he's already spent in prison be subtracted from the 25 years?" Downs, 572 So.2d at 900. The trial court consulted with both counsel defense counsel's over objection, instructed the jury that Downs "would for time served on this receive credit charge." Id. at 900-01. This Court, without analysis, concluded that the trial court did not abuse its discretion. See id. at 901.

Green, 907 So.2d at 497. As such, Green supports a finding that Armstrong's trial court did not abuse its discretion in informing the jury credit would be given for time served. The jury did not ask about the probability of parole, and the standard instruction adequately advised the jury parole was a

possibility after the minimum term was served. <u>See Waterhouse</u>, 596 So.2d at 1015.

While this Court in Green also concluded that the trial judge did not abuse its discretion in telling the jury parole was guaranteed, it did not make the finding that the jury must be so instructed. In fact, based on Waterhouse and Downs, it is clear that an instruction on the probability or likelihood of being granted parole was not required, and there would be no abuse of discretion in declining to give such an instruction. Here, the trial court gave the standard instruction on life without the possibility of parole alternative to a death recommendation, and directly answered the jury's question on credit for time served which accurately and completely informed the jury that credit would be applied. There was no abuse of discretion and this Court should affirm.

Moreover, the decision not to instruct the jury beyond the question asked even if deemed error should be found harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The jury was properly told that parole was provided under the statute and at no time has this Court required that a guarantee or probability of receiving parole be given as an instruction. It cannot be said that had the jury been informed that there was no guarantee of parole in addition to the instruction that there was no possibility of parole for 25 years (less time served) that the jury would have

recommended a life sentence. If error, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Armstrong's death sentence should be affirmed.

ISSUE IV

CUMULATIVE ERROR HAS NOT BEEN SHOWN (restated)

Armstrong points to the two evidentiary issues he raised (Issues I and II) and claims cumulative error has been shown. The State disagrees as the admission of the photographs and remaining bullet fragment was not error, and the aggravators were supported with additional admissible evidence. Moreover, if either issue is found to be meritless, then a cumulative error claim cannot stand where only one error is deemed to have been committed by the trial court.

In <u>Penalver v. State</u>, 926 So.2d 1118 (Fla. 2006), this Court explained the cumulative error analysis as follows:

The commission of an error by the trial court is only considered harmless where there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the verdict. See Walton v. State, 847 So.2d 438, 446 (Fla. 2003). Moreover, even when we find multiple harmless errors, we must still consider whether "the cumulative effect of errors was such as to deny to defendant the and impartial trial that is inalienable right of all litigants in this state and this nation." Brooks v. State, 918 So.2d 181, 202 (Fla. 2005) (quoting Jackson v. State, 575 So.2d 181, 189 (Fla. 1991)). In assessing the cumulative effect of such errors, we have considered whether (1) the errors were fundamental, (2) the errors went

to the heart of the State's case, and (3) the jury would still have heard substantial evidence in support of the defendant's guilt. *Id*.

<u>Penalver</u>, 926 So.2d at 1137. Moreover, where the individual errors asserted are meritless or are procedurally barred, a claim of cumulative error fails. <u>Griffin v. State</u>, 866 So.2d 1, 22 (Fla. 2003). <u>See Downs v. State</u>, 740 So. 2d 506, 509 (Fla. 1999) (finding where allegations of individual error are found to be without merit, a cumulative error argument based on the asserted errors must likewise fall); <u>Melendez v. State</u>, 718 So. 2d 746, 749 (Fla. 1998) (same).

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